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Unpubl i shed opi ni ons are not bi ndi ng precedent inthis circuit. See
Local Rule 36(c).

CPI NI ON
GOODW N, District Judge:

The def endant - appel l ant Gartman was convicted on all three counts
of an indictnent charging himwth conspiring to nurder federa
enpl oyees, attenpting to retaliate against a federal w tness or
I nfor -

mant, and conspiring to nurder a federally protected wi tness.* He
appeals fromthe trial court's denial of a notion for judgnent of
acquittal on all counts. He asserts that the evidence was
I nsuf ficient

to sustain his conviction. W affirm

*Gartman was convicted in count | of violating 18 U.S.C. § 1117 by

conspiring to nurder Agent Ronald G osse and Assistant United

St at es

At t or ney Dean Ei chel berger. Section 1117 provides in pertinent part

t hat

"[i]f two or nore persons conspire to violate section. . . 1114 .
of this

title, and one or nore of such persons do any overt act to effect

t he obj ect

of the conspiracy, each shall be" guilty of a crime. Section 1114

makes

it unlawful to "kill or attenpt to kill . . . any Assistant United
St at es

Attorney, . . . [or] any officer or enployee of the Federal Bureau
of

| nvestigation . " Gartman was convicted in count Il of aiding
and

abetting an attenpt to kill Robert Arnoldin violation of 18 U. S. C.
8§ 1513. Section 1513 makes it unlawful to"kill[] or attenpt to kil
anot her person with intent to retaliate against any person for --
(A the

attendance of a witness or party at an official proceeding, or any
testi-

nony given . . . or (B) providing to a |l aw enforcenent officer any
I nfor -

mation relating to the conm ssion or possible conm ssion of a
Feder al

of fense." Gartman was convicted in count Il1l of violating 18 U.S. C.
8§ 371 by conspiring to nmurder Sharon Gregory in violation of 18
U s C

8§ 1513. Section 371 provides in pertinent part that "[i]f two or
nore per-

sons conspire to conmt any of fense agai nst the United States,



and
one or nmore of such persons do any act to effect the object of the
con-
spiracy, each shall be" guilty of a crine.
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The defendant Jimy Ray Gartnman was unenpl oyed and lived in

a small house with his working wife. Chris Elkins (his nephew) and
El kins's friend Edw n Atwood visited Gartman regul arly. During the
| ate fall of 1994, Gartnman spent "two or three" hours several times
a

week regaling these young nen with vituperations directed at those
persons whom he had cast as his enem es and persecutors -- forner
I nsurance investigator Robert Arnold; FBI agent Ronald G osse;
Assistant United States Attorney Dean Ei chel berger; and federa
Wit-

ness Sharon G egory.

El kins and Atwood's trial testinony nade Gartman's ani nus
towards these four individuals explicable. As to Robert Arnold,
t hey

testified that Gartman | ong suspected Arnol d of and bl amed hi mfor
the killing of his youngest son, despite the acquittal on
sel f - def ense

grounds of the son's ex-wife. Mreover, Arnold had investigated
over

50 al l egedly fraudul ent insurance clains filed by Gartman and his
famly and had turned over his information to the FBI before
| eavi ng

t he investigati on business.

Gartman' s ani nus towards G osse, Eichel berger, and G egory
resulted fromseveral interrel ated events surroundi ng the ensui ng
FBI

and grand jury investigation into the alleged insurance fraud.
Agent

Grosse was the |l ead FBI investigator; AUSA Ei chel berger was the
attorney in charge; and Sharon G egory was a federal wtness
agai nst

Gartman and his son Ray Gartman, Jr. Elkins and Atwood testified
that Gartman felt persecuted by this investigation. Gartman, Jr.
accused Gegory (his ex-girlfriend) of cooperating with the
aut horities

in the grand jury investigation, assaulted her, was convicted of
retali-

ating against a federally protected witness in violation of 18
U s C

§ 1512(b), and was sentenced to 68 nmonths inprisonnent. Agent
Grosse investigated the assault and AUSA Ei chel berger prosecuted
t he case. El kins and Atwood testified that Gartman bl amed G egory,
Grosse, and Eichel berger for "setting up” his son on the assault
con-

viction.

Gartman engaged in no nore than verbal vilification of Arnold,
G osse, Eichel berger, and Gregory, however, until a Decenber 1994
neeti ng between Gartman, El ki ns, and Atwood. Atwood testified that






during this visit Gartman stated t hat sonebody needed to "t ake care
of* Arnold. (J.A 80). Gartman then went into his bedroom
retrieved

sonme cash, and offered El kins and Atwood $5,000 to kill Arnold
(about $2,000 down, about $3,000 later). (J.A 80-81, 198-200).
Gart -

man then went back into his bedroom and returned w thout the
noney. When he returned, he said that "he woul dn't m nd taking care
of" or "also wanted . . . to get rid of Ronald G osse, Dean
Ei chel ber -

ger, and Sharon Gegory." (J.A 82, 200). Elkins asked how nuch
Gartman woul d pay. Atwood does not renenber any specific

anounts, but Elkins testified that Gartman woul d pay $30, 000 each
for Grosse and Ei chel berger and $20,000 for Gegory. (J.A 82
201).

The next day, Elkins and Atwood told Gartman that they agreed to

kill all four individuals, starting with Arnol d:
Q You and M. Elkins agreed to kill four people; is that
correct?
A Yes, sir.

A W went back and | believe Chris stated to himthat we
would do it.

Q Wat was your understandi ng, what was the defen-
dant's reaction when you told himwe will do it?

A. He seened pretty happy.
Q What was your understanding, M. Atwood, as to what

you and Chris had agreed with the defendant you were
going to do?

A To initially kill Robert Arnold and if successfully com
pl et ed Dean Ei chel berger, Ron G oss, and Sharon
G egory.

Q@ You were going to nurder Robert Arnold and if you
pul l ed that off nurder the rest; is that correct?
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A. Yes, sir.
(J.A 84, 85-86; testinony of Atwood).

Q D dyou and M. Atwood di scuss what the defendant
had suggested to you?

A Yes, sir.

Q Didyou and M. Atwood agree to do what the defen-
dant had asked you to do?

A Yes, sir.

Q Wat was your understanding of what you and M.
At wod had agreed to do for the defendant?

A: To kill these people.
Q Who are these people again?

A: Sharon Gregory, Ronald Grosse, Dean Eichel berger,
and Robert Arnol d.

Q Wio were you going to start with?

Robert Arnol d.

Wiy were you going to start with Robert Arnol d?
Because he wanted himfirst.

It was the defendant's idea?

Yes, sir.

How nmuch noney were you going to get paid?

> Q0 » O » O =

For Ronald Arnold $5, 000.
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Q For Dean Eichel berger?

A: $30, 000.

Q Ronald G osse?

A: $30, 000.

Q Wiy were you getting paid so nuch nore for that?
A. Because of the inportance of them people was so nuch
mor e.

Q How about Sharon G egory?

A $20, 000.

Q Wiy were you getting paid so nuch nore for her?
A: Because she was a federal w tness.

When did you and M. Atwood tell the defendant that
you would in fact go forward with this plan?

A. The next day, | believe.
Q@ What did you tell hinf

A W told himwe would do it. We didn't know who
Robert Arnold was.

(J.A 202-03; testinmony of Elkins).

El kins and Atwood testified that Gartman provided themw th
information to aid themin killing the four targets. Gartnman told
t hem

the I ocation of Arnol d' s pl ace of business and suggest ed t he manner
i n which Arnold should be killed. He told themthat Grosse drove a
bl ue Thunderbirdwith tinted wi ndows and |ived i n Lexi ngton County.
They | earned from Gartman that Eichel berger shops at WAl -Mart on
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t he weekends and he suggested that they should kill himthere with
arifle. Gartman told themthat G egory worked at Bob Johnson's
Auto Body, that she lived behind that business, and that they
shoul d

kill her by placing a bonb under her house. (J.A 201, 207-09).

At Gartman's direction, Elkins and Atwood nmade botched attenpts
to carry out their end of the agreenent. They obtained a sem -
automatic pistol tofirst kill Arnold. El kins, who was carrying the
pi s-

tol, and Atwood net Arnold to arrange a test-drive with himin a
car

he was selling. Although Elkins and Atwood took a test drive
Arnol d

did not ride with them foiling that killing scenario. They
reported

their blundered efforts to Gartman and plotted their next nove.
Agai n

at Gartman's direction, Elkins and At wood pl anned to call Arnol d at
a wecker service he owmed in an attenpt to lure himout and kil
hi m

After drinking several beers, Atwood put on a country accent and
cal -

| ed Arnol d. However, Arnold asked skeptical questions and advi sed
t hat he woul d not pick themup until after daylight, |eadi ng El kins
and

Atwood to abort plan two. Elkins testified that despite their
bungl i ng,

Gart man gave hi m $2000, which he split with Atwood. Both young
men soon becane nervous and Atwood reported the plot to the FBI.
Shortly thereafter, Elkins and Atwood began cooperating with the
aut horiti es.

Gartman first argues that this case involved four separate
conspira-

cies with four individual targets -- Arnold, G osse, Eichel berger,
and

Gregory -- and that the only overt acts proved were in furtherance
of a single conspiracy to kill Arnold. The issue, therefore, is
whet her

there were four separate conspiracies or one conspiracy to kil
four
I ndi vi dual s.

To answer the single/nultiple conspiracy question, the governnent
and the defendant each cite United States v. Leavis, 853 F.2d 215
(4th

Cir. 1988). The Leavis court provided that"[t]he question whet her
t he

evi dence shows a single conspiracy or nultiple conspiracies

i's




one of fact and is properly the province of the jury."” Id. at 218.
IIA
si ngl e conspiracy exi sts where there is "one overal |l agreenent,' or
“one general business venture' ." 1d. (citations omtted). "Whether
there is a single conspiracy or nultiple conspiraci es depends upon
t he



overlap of key actors, nethods, and goals." 1d. (citing United
St at es
v. Crockett, 813 F.2d 1310, 1216-17 (4th Cr. 1987); United States

V.
Little, 753 F.2d 1420, 1448 (9th Cr. 1984)).

Al t hough the indictnment alleges in the preanble that there was one
overall goal to Gartman's actions (Indictnent ¥ 5, J. A 2), it
char ged

three counts -- conspiracy to kill Grosse and Ei chel berger; aiding
and

abetting an attenpt to kill Arnold; and conspiracy to kill G egory.
As

the governnment explained to the trial court, three counts were
char ged

because the conspiracy could not statutorily be charged in one
count

-- only G osse and Ei chel berger were federal enployees, Gegory
was a federal w tness but not an enpl oyee of the United States, and
attenpt nore closely fit the charged conduct relating to Arnold
t han

did conspiracy. This fact does not prevent the jury fromfinding
t hat

one overall conspiracy existed: "Sinply put, the fact that an
I ndi ct -

ment charges conspiracy in separate counts does not nmean that the
conspiracies charged necessarily nust be separate and distinct.”
See

United States v. Fisher, 3 F.3d 456, 460 (1st Cir. 1993). In
Fi sher, the

def endant argued t hat t he governnent coul d not nmake a "one bi g con-
spi racy" argument because the i ndi ct ment char ged separ at e conspira-
cies. Id. The First Circuit rejected that argunent and noted that
"there

Is a conplete | ack of authority supporting the novel proposition
Fi sher

asserts.” Id. Although the First GCrcuit noted that a defendant
coul d

al ways argue prejudicial variance, the governnment woul d not be pre-
vented from argui ng one big conspiracy because the purpose of the
indictnent is primarily to provide notice of the charges to the
def en-

dant, not as a neans of assessing proof. |d. at 460 & 460 n. 10.
Her e,

we al so note that the indictnent did assert "one big conspiracy” in
t he

preanble; that Gartman did not offer an instruction at trial on
si ngl e/

mul ti pl e conspiracies; and that Gartman has not rai sed vari ance as
an

| Ssue.

We nust sustain a jury verdict "if there is substantial evidence,



t ak-

ing the view nost favorable to the governnent, to support it."
G asser

v. United States, 315 U.S. 60, 80 (1942). W nust consi der circum
stantial as well as direct evidence and allow the governnent the
bene-

fit of all reasonable inferences fromfacts proven to facts sought
to be

established. United States v. Tresvant, 677 F.2d 1018, 1021 (4th
Gr.

1982). Construing the evidence -- including testinony fromthe
al | eged coconspirators Elkins and Atwood -- in the |ight nost
favor -



able to the governnent, we find there is substantial evidence to
sup-
port the jury's verdict.

Here, the trial evidence was that there was a single conspiracy to
kill all four individuals. First, both El kins and Atwood testified
repeatedly that their agreenent wwth Gartman was to kill all four
i ndi -

viduals, starting with Arnold. (J.A 82-83, 84-86, 146, 198,
200- 01,

202-03). Additionally, Gartman's offer to have all four individuals

killed was made at the same tinme -- during one conversation with
El kins and Atwood -- and followed conplaints about all four
i ndi vi d-

uals for their activities related to the insurance investigation.
The

Leavis factors also point to one conspiracy. The key actors --
Gart -

man, El kins, and Atwood -- not only overl apped but were i dentical.
Al t hough t he nmethods varied sonewhat, the goal to be achieved was
the sanme -- killing Gartman's enemes. Clearly, ajury couldratio-

nally find that there was only "one overall agreement,"” and thus
one
conspiracy, to kill all four individuals.

The proof also established overt acts in furtherance of the
conspir-

acy to kill Gartman's four enem es. Anong the overt acts proved
were the follow ng: Gartman had conversations with El kins and

At wood about the method, timng, and |ocation of the nurders;
El ki ns

and At wood obtained a gunto kill Arnold; they triedto lure Arnold
out to kill himduring a test-drive; they tried to lure Arnold out
to kill

himwith alate night call to Arnold s wecker service; and Gartman
gave $2000 to Elkins and Atwood for their initial efforts. Wen a
si n-

gl e conspiracy has nmultiple goals (i.e., killing four people), any
overt

act directed towards one of the goals (i.e., killing Arnold) is
sufficient

to sustain the overall conspiracy conviction. See United States v.
Head, 641 F.2d 174, 181 (4th Cr. 1981), cert. denied, 462 U S.
1132

(1983). Therefore, Gartman's conviction on counts | and IIl are
af firnmed.

Gartman next argues that the evidence was insufficient to sustain
his conviction on count Il of the indictnment for aiding and
abetting

an attenpted retaliation against a federal witness or informant in



Vi O-
lation of 18 U.S.C. 8 1513. His conviction nust be sustained if a
rational jury could find beyond a reasonabl e doubt that Gartman

9



I ntended to have Arnold killed inretaliation for Arnold providing
information to the governnent relating to Gartman's al | eged i nsur -
ance fraud activities.

The evidence that Gartman intended to have Arnold killed because
of his insurance fraud i nvestigation and for turning his files over
to

the FBI included the follow ng: There was testinony from both

El ki ns and Atwood that Gartman "hated" Arnold both for his son's
death and for the insurance investigation. (J.A 69-70; 194).
El ki ns

also testified that Gartman was aware that Arnold had been the
origi-

nal investigator into the alleged i nsurance fraud and that Arnold
had

turned his files over to the FBI: "Q Wat did[Gartman] tell you
about insurance fraud investigations? A: He told ne he was being
i nvesti gated because Robert Arnold had initially been the
I nvesti gat or

of it. He had turned his files over tothe FBI." (J. A 191). Atwood
tes-

tified that during the original conversation with Gartman about
killing

Arnold "[w] e were tal king specifically about Robert Arnold at the
time, about the fact that he possibly had sonmething to do with his
son's death. The investigation he did on insurance fraud. That
sone-

body needed to take care of him" (J.A 80). Finally, Gartman's
request to nurder Arnold cane during the same conversation in

whi ch Gartman al so sought to have the FBI agent and the AUSA

I nvestigating the insurance fraud and the grand jury w tness who
i mplicated himfor insurance fraud nurdered. Therefore, Gartman's
conviction on count Il is affirnmed.

V.
For the reasons stated, we affirm Gartman's convicti on.
AFFI RVED
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